FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/2/2021 1:24 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100433-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 55007-5

DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

W.M., a minor, by ERIN OLSON, his Litigation Guardian ad Litem and JAMES MANEY,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Bernard F. Veljacic

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sidney C. Tribe, WSBA No. 33160 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 622-8020

Attorneys for Petitioners

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	A.	Law	rch 2017: The family is living in Tennessee; /son takes W.M. away from Maney and gs him across the country	
	B.		ember 9, 2017: Lawson and W.M. are living her new boyfriend, a documented child	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

		use	ser. W.M. is poisoned by ingesting an opiate d by drug addicts. The Department opens an se investigation
	C.	invo wor Ric	the days after W.M. was poisoned and the CPS estigation was still ongoing, Lawson went to the while W.M. stayed home with abuser Rich. h beat W.M., causing him severe and manent injuries
	D.	con	he suit against the Department, the trial court cludes that there is no issue of material fact dismisses all claims as a matter of law
V.			MENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE TED14
	A.	Οοι Οοι	e Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this art's decisions and other decisions from the art of Appeals with respect to the duty analysis negligent investigation claims
		1.	Precedent holds that leaving a child in a home where the child is later abused is a harmful placement decision
		2.	Contrary to precedent, the majority's decision holds that leaving a child in a home where he is later beaten is not a harmful placement decision unless the child was also beaten pre-placement
		3.	The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals because it concludes that negligent

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

		treatment or maltreatment of a child is not child abuse
		4. Contrary to this Court's precedent, the majority reached its "harmful placement" ruling by improperly viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the Department
	B.	Contrary to precedent, the majority's decision weighed and discarded expert testimony on causation, and impermissibly resolved a factual dispute in favor of the Department on summary judgment
		1. Appellate courts do not weigh evidence. The majority did so here25
		 The majority's decision here directly conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision in <i>Albertson v. State.</i>
	C.	The majority's decision raises issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) 29
VI.	CO	NCLUSION

APPENDICES

Page(s)

Appendix A:	Published Opinion dated November 2, 2021	A-1 to A-22
Appendix B:	Clerk's Papers, Pages 979-988	.B-1 to B-10

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)

16Washington Cases

Albertson v. State, 191 Wn. App. 284, 361 P.3d 808 (2015) 28, 29
Babcock v. State, 116 Wn.2d 596, 809 P.2d 143 (1991)23
<i>M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.</i> , 110 Wn. App. 233, 39 P.3d 993 (2002), <i>rev'd</i> , 149 Wn.2d 589, 70 P.3d 954 (2003) <i>Passim</i>
<i>Petcu v. State</i> , 121 Wn. App. 36, 86 P.3d 1234 (2004)20, 21
<i>Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc.,</i> 153 Wn. App. 710, 225 P.3d 266 (2009)
<i>Thorndike v. Hesperian Orchards, Inc.,</i> 54 Wn.2d 570, 343 P.2d 183 (1959)
<i>Tyner v Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.,</i> 141 Wn.2d 68, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000)14
Constitutional Provisions, Statutes and Court Rules
RCW 26.44.010
RCW 26.44.020

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are W.M., a minor represented by his Litigation Guardian ad Litem Erin Olson, and James Maney.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the published majority decision¹ terminating review filed by the Washington Court of Appeals, Division Two on November 2, 2021. A copy is appended hereto. Appendix 1-22.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. If, while conducting an ongoing child abuse investigation, the Department of Social and Health Services returns a child to live in the home of a documented child abuser and then that child is physically abused, is the decision to return the child to the abuser's home a "harmful placement decision" as defined in *M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 149 Wn.2d 589 (2003)?

¹ The Court of Appeals panel was split 2-1, with Judges Lee and Sutton signing the majority, and Judge Maxa filing a dissent.

2. On review of summary judgment, is the Court of Appeals permitted to weigh and reject expert testimony that was presented by the non-moving party, view the evidence and inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the moving party, and then rule on causation as a matter of law?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the brutal abuse of Petitioner W.M. in the home where he was living. When he was two years old, he was savagely beaten by his mother's boyfriend. At the time he was beaten, W.M. had a loving father who was going through court proceedings trying to get W.M. placed with him. At the time he was beaten, W.M. had a GAL who was concerned that his mother was deceptive, was not watching out for his welfare, and was trying to replace W.M.'s father with her new boyfriend. And the time he was beaten, the Department of Social and Health Services (the Department) was investigating abuse of W.M.: poisoning with a drug used by addicts. A. March 2017: The family is living in Tennessee; Lawson takes W.M. away from Maney and brings him across the country.

W.M. was born in 2015. He is the child of Katelyn Lawson and Petitioner James Maney. In March 2017, Lawson absconded with W.M from the couple's home in Tennessee to Washington. CP 926. She filed to dissolve the marriage in Washington, seeking primary residential placement of W.M. *Id.* Lawson was granted temporary primary residential placement on August 28, 2017. CP 119. She told the court she and W.M. were living with her parents in Washington. However, they were actually living, at least part time, with her boyfriend in Gresham, Oregon. CP 138, 140, 941, 981.

Maney was also trying to get primary residential placement of W.M. CP 981. He travelled from Tennessee to Washington to visit W.M. in August and October 2017. CP 927. Maney was scheduled to have his first extended time with W.M. in Tennessee at the end of December 2017. *Id*. The court appointed a Guardian ad Litem (GAL) for W.M. to investigate the custody issue. CP 168. In October 2017, the GAL wrote a report that was highly critical of Lawson and recommended that the court place W.M. with Maney. CP 117-141. The GAL was concerned that Lawson did not think that W.M. needed to have a relationship with Maney, and that her new boyfriend was a suitable replacement parent. CP 137-138. The GAL noted that Lawson was taking W.M. to her boyfriend's house "a significant amount of time, including overnights...". CP 138.

On October 23, 2017, less than two months before W.M. was abused and permanently injured by Lawson's boyfriend at his home, W.M.'s GAL wrote the following statement:

It is concerning to this writer that [Lawson] would not disclose where her new boyfriend lives, only stating "near Portland." *It is concerning because she and the child often stay with the boyfriend and that she plans on moving in with him.*

CP 140.

PETITION FOR REVIEW – 4

OLS033-0001 6770577

B. December 9, 2017: Lawson and W.M. are living with her new boyfriend, a documented child abuser. W.M. is poisoned by ingesting an opiate used by drug addicts. The Department opens an abuse investigation.

On Saturday, December 9, 2017 at about 1:00 p.m., Lawson brought W.M. to the emergency room at Legacy Mt. Hood Hospital in Gresham, Oregon. CP 980. W.M. was poisoned by Suboxone, which is prescribed for adults with opioid dependence. *Id.* Lawson's boyfriend was an opioid addict taking the Suboxone to "control his addiction." CP 688. W.M.'s Suboxone ingestion was indicative of lack of supervision and a substance abuser living with W.M. CP 196, 211.

At the Mt. Hood hospital, Lawson lied hospital personnel including social worker Antoinette Teixeira. She claimed W.M. was poisoned at her *parents*' house in Ridgefield. CP 216. Teixeira questioned why Lawson had brought W.M. all the way to the Oregon hospital, rather than one near Ridgefield. CP 980. Lawson became "defensive," and her explanation was "confusing and incongruent." CP 217. A nurse wrote she was "having difficulty following [Lawson's] storyline." CP 219.

Teixeira was instructed by the Oregon Child Abuse Hotline screener to call the Washington child abuse hotline, which she did. CP 491. Teixeira believed the Washington intake worker took minimal information; she was concerned the case would "fall through the cracks." CP 189.

W.M. was seriously ill and transferred to a children's hospital near Portland. CP 181. The case was screened by the Department under its policy for cases where the child is in "present or impending danger." CP 724. The Department's Child Protective Services (CPS) was required to have face-to-face contact with W.M. within 24 hours. CP 964. His case was assigned to investigator Kimberly Hartnagel. CP 212. Hartnagel's job was to investigate and make a safety plan for W.M. upon his release from the hospital. CP 213, 254. Hartnagel went to the hospital where W.M. was admitted. CP 255.

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 6

Contrary to what Lawson told Teixeira and other staff at Mt. Hood, Lawson admitted to Hartnagel that the poisoning occurred at her boyfriend's house in Oregon, and that the Suboxone was his. CP 256-257. Lawson also told Hartnagel she and her boyfriend had been dating about 6 months and there were baby gates for W.M. at his residence, indicating that (just as W.M.'s GAL had reported two months earlier, W.M. was spending significant time living there. CP 270.

Hartnagel documented the boyfriend's address but did not write down his name. CP 258. Despite becoming aware that the boyfriend had access to W.M., and W.M. was living at least part time at the boyfriend's residence, Hartnagel did not check the boyfriend's background. CP 264. Hartnagel also learned Lawson had drug issues: she had to provide urine samples "as well as nail follicles" to the court for drug testing purposes. CP 270.

Had Hartnagel called Oregon CPS or done a background check on Lawson's boyfriend, Samuel Rich, she would have learned that Rich had a "founded" allegation of abusing his prior girlfriend's daughter. CP 311, 981.

Hartnagel also did not think it important to contact Maney, W.M.'s father. Lawson told Hartnagel that she was involved in a custody dispute with W.M.'s father. CP 270. However, Hartnagel did not even ask for Maney's name, let alone contact Maney, contravening CPS policy. CP 260-261. Hartnagel accepted Lawson's assurances that Lawson would let Maney know about W.M.'s hospitalization. *Id*.

Hartnagel also did not contact Teixeira, the Oregon hospital social worker who referred the case, despite this being standard procedure. CP 256. So Hartnagel did not learn from Teixeira that Lawson had given a vague, conflicting, and defensive story at Mt. Hood Hospital, and that her tale about the poisoning had changed materially, from occurring at Lawson's parents' house to occurring at her boyfriend's house. *Id*.

Hartnagel verified nothing in Lawson's account of the poisoning. CP 265. She did not check whether Lawson's

boyfriend Rich or Lawson's parents had any prior CPS history and did not do background checks on anyone involved.² CP 265.

Under the CPS Procedure for After Business Hours Responses, "After-hours workers are required to complete a Safety Assessment/Safety Plan in FamLink." CP 968. Hartnagel did not complete the assessment or plan. CP 980. W.M. was discharged from Randall on Sunday, December 10, and allowed to go home with Lawson with no safety plan in place. CP 678, 998.

Investigator Katie Palmquist continued Harnagel's investigation after W.M.'s release back to Lawson. But Palmquist did not uncover any of the critical facts Hartnagel initially missed. Despite the fact the poisoning occurred at Rich's house, and Lawson had indicated that W.M. was living at Rich's house at least part time, the investigator arranged to visit

² A background check would have revealed Rich's child abuse history and that Lawson's father was a Level 1 Registered Sex Offender. CP 688.

only Lawson's parents' house. CP 9-10, 495. She went to Lawson's parents' house three days after W.M. was poisoned. CP 317. Lawson was not there. CP 315, 495. Lawson's mother did not know the "full story" about Rich or the poisoning at Rich's house and told Palmquist that the story would "have to be gotten" from Lawson. CP 317. Palmquist took no further action to investigate the present and impending danger to W.M. CP 981.

C. Nine days after W.M. was poisoned and the CPS investigation was still ongoing, Lawson went to work while W.M. stayed home with abuser Rich. Rich beat W.M., causing him severe and permanent injuries.

On December 18, 2017, nine days after W.M.'s poisoning and eight days after the Department placed W.M. back with Lawson, Lawson went to work and left W.M. at home with Rich. CP 682, Appendix 11. Rich had savagely beat W.M., and did not take him to the hospital immediately. CP 981. When Lawson learned of the beating, she again brought W.M. to the emergency department at Mt. Hood. *Id.* He was unresponsive, not breathing, and had no detectable pulse. *Id.*

W.M. was placed on life support and transferred to Randall Children's Hospital—the same hospital where he had been transferred nine days earlier. CP 679-682. He had abrasions on his back and shoulder blades. W.M. had a "skull abrasion," facial bruising, was red around his neck, and had bruising to the left side of his torso, as well as other bruising on his body. *Id.* He had bilateral brain bleeds and extensive brain swelling. *Id.* He was not expected to survive. *Id.*

As she had done with the poisoning just nine days earlier, Lawson tried to cover for Rich. She offered inconsistent accounts of the new injuries to W.M., including claiming that W.M. had fallen from a highchair or down the stairs. CP 680. Hospital staff immediately notified law enforcement. CP 981.

Unlike during the Department' prior investigation, CPS now made a phone call to the Oregon Child Abuse Hotline. *Id.*

It learned that Rich had a prior founded allegation for physical abuse of a previous girlfriend's two-year-old daughter. *Id.*

After this second, catastrophic abuse, CPS finally contacted W.M.'s father, Maney, on December 20. CP 928. He immediately flew from Tennessee to Portland to be at the hospital. *Id*. Maney's attorney moved for sole residential placement of W.M., which the court immediately granted. CP 345-347.

Rich was indicted for abusing W.M. CP 355-365.

D. In the suit against the Department, the trial court concludes that there is no issue of material fact and dismisses all claims as a matter of law.

W.M., through his litigation guardian ad litem Erin Olson, and Maney filed negligence and negligent investigation claims against the Department. CP 1-7. W.M. presented, *inter alia*, an expert who opined that had the Department's investigation not been negligent, the Department would have learned about Rich's prior abuse and, at the very least, imposed a safety plan to ensure that W.M. had no contact with Rich. Appendix 10-11. The Department's own expert stated that safety plans are "voluntary," and that the idea that a non-negligent investigation would have prevented the beating was "pure speculation." *Id.* 11-12.

W.M. moved for partial summary judgment dismissal of the Department's affirmative defenses. CP 416. The Department moved for summary judgment on all of W.M.'s claims. CP 542. The trial court granted the Department's summary judgment motion. CP 1167.

W.M. timely appealed to Division Two. CP 1205. In a published opinion, the majority of a divided panel affirmed the trial court's ruling dismissing W.M.'s negligent investigation claim as a matter of law. Appendix 16, 18. First, the majority concluded that the Department had no duty to W.M., because it had not made a "harmful placement decision." Appendix 14-16. Second the majority concluded that as a matter of law, the Department did not proximately cause W.M.'s injuries because W.M.'s expert testimony on causation was "mere speculation." Appendix 16-18.

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 13

OLS033-0001 6770577

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decisions and other decisions from the Court of Appeals with respect to the duty analysis in negligent investigation claims.
 - 1. Precedent holds that leaving a child in a home where the child is later abused is a harmful placement decision.

Twenty-one years ago, this Court recognized an implied cause of action against DSHS for negligent investigation of child abuse allegations under RCW 26.44.050. *Tyner v Dep't of Soc.* & *Health Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 79–81, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000).

Two years after *Tyner*, a plaintiff brought a negligent investigation claim alleging that during an abuse investigation, Department employees physically assaulted a child. *M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 110 Wn. App. 233, 39 P.3d 993 (2002), *rev'd*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 70 P.3d 954 (2003). The child allegedly suffered post-traumatic stress disorder after undergoing a vaginal examination by untrained DSHS workers investigating sexual abuse allegations. *Id.* at 235-236. Our courts in M.W. were confronted with a negligent investigation claim alleging an unusual type of injury: assault by Department employees during a medical examination as opposed to abuse by a third party committed at home. The issue in M.W.was whether physical assault by Department staff the type of harm giving rise to a cause of action for negligent investigation?

The Court of Appeals in M.W. was divided. The dissent – the reasoning of which this Court adopted when it reversed the M.W. majority – surveyed prior case law and identified three categories of harm remediable by a negligent investigation claim:

> [N]egligently placing the child in a foster home in which the child is *later abused*; ...failing to remove the child from a foster or parental home in which the child is *later abused*; and...negligently removing the child from a parental home in which the child properly belongs.

Id. at 247 (Morgan, J., dissenting) (emphasis added). Thus, according to Judge Morgan, a harmful placement decision in the context of the duty analysis is when the child is left in a home and is then "later" abused. *Id.*

On review, this Court agreed with Judge Morgan's analysis. M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 149 Wn.2d 589, 594-597, 70 P.3d 954 (2003). It held the statutory duty in RCW 26.44.050 is to properly investigate suspected child abuse and neglect, and to prevent subsequent child abuse. Id.³ Because a claim for negligent investigation arises from a statute specifically intended to protect children from injuries resulting from living with child abusers, the M.W. court held that negligent investigation claims were cognizable "only when DSHS conducts a biased or faulty investigation that leads to a harmful placement decision, such as placing the child in an abusive home, removing the child from a non-abusive home, or failing to remove a child from an abusive home." *Id.* at 591.

³ Of course, Department employees are liable under the common law for assaults and other torts committed during investigations.

This Court's *M.W.* "harmful placement" analysis focused solely on deciding what *types of harms* are remediable in a suit for negligent investigation:

Because a harmful placement decision is not the *type of harm* alleged ... we hold [the child's] claim for negligent investigation fails and reverse the Court of Appeals.

Id. at 591 (emphasis added), 598, 602 (discussing "injuries" and "harms" the negligent investigation statute was meant to address).

Thus, under *M*.*W*., physical child abuse at the home where the child is placed or returned during or after a negligent investigation is one of the "types of harm" that the negligent investigation cause of action was intended to remedy.

2. Contrary to precedent, the majority's decision holds that leaving a child in a home where he is later beaten is not a harmful placement decision unless the child was also beaten pre-placement.

The majority here disregarded precedent defining child abuse as the type of harm that gives rise to a cause of action for negligent investigation. They ruled that the Department did not make a "harmful placement decision" as a matter of law. Appendix 14. The majority argues that because there is no evidence that Rich, a documented child abuser, had already beaten W.M. at the time the Department returned the child to his home, the placement decision was not harmful. *Id*.

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