FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/17/2022 1:44 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100433-8

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

W.M., a Minor, by ERIN OLSON, his Litigation Guardian Ad Litem, and JAMES MANEY,

Petitioners,

v.

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE PUZ Senior Counsel WSBA No. 17407 Torts Division PO Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 360-586-6300 OID No. 91023

## **

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

# IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

#### A. Plaintiffs Failed to Establish the Claim Elements Required by Two Decades of Washington Precedent

It is Plaintiffs, not the Court of Appeals, that seek to alter the longstanding elements of their negligent investigation claim. Plaintiffs cannot show the State made a harmful placement decision because, as in M.E., there was no evidence W.M. was

abused in Sally's home or at imminent risk of harm. *M.E.*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 33-34; RCW 13.34.050. Advancing arguments about the meaning of "harmful placement decision" that are similar to those made to this Court by the unsuccessful petitioners in *M.E.*, Plaintiffs seek to circumvent this essential element altogether *Cf.* Pet. at 17-29 and App. at 7-8 (*M.E.* petition for review). Just as this Court denied review in *M.E.* last year, it should deny Plaintiffs' request here.

The Court of Appeals also properly affirmed summary judgment because Plaintiffs cannot show the State's alleged negligence *resulted* in a harmful placement decision. Both holdings follow established Washington law, and do not merit review by this Court.

- 1. The State's admittedly correct placement of W.M. was not a "harmful placement decision"
  - a. Later physical abuse does not transform an admittedly correct earlier placement into a "harmful placement decision"

Plaintiffs point to Rich's December 18 assault and summarily conclude the State *must* have allowed W.M. to remain

in an abusive home. According to Plaintiffs, whenever a child is later abused, even outside of the home, the earlier placement decision must, necessarily, have been a harmful one. See Pet. at 18-19. That hindsight driven analysis conflicts with the holdings of this Court and ignores the statutory and Constitutional limitations on the State's authority to remove a child from a parent.

A claim for negligent investigation under RCW 26.44.050 is a "narrow exception" to the rule that Washington does not recognize a general tort claim for negligent investigation. *M.W.*, 149 Wn.2d at 601. As Washington courts have repeatedly held, the limited negligent investigation claim only protects against incomplete or biased investigations that result in "harmful placement decisions" "such as removing a child from a nonabusive home, placing a child in an abusive home, or letting a child remain in an abusive home." *Id* at 602; *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 46, 123 P.3d 844 (2005) ("Our interpretation of the statute in *M.W.* unequivocally requires that the negligent

investigation to be actionable must lead to a 'harmful placement decision.'")

Deviating from this standard, Plaintiffs' hindsight analysis improperly assumes that Rich's later abuse of W.M. necessarily means the earlier placement decision was wrong and harmful under M.W. However, that abuse later occurs does not mean there was sufficient evidence beforehand to warrant removal of W.M. from his mother. Absent "specific factual information" that shows a child will be "seriously endangered if not taken into custody" and which demonstrates a "risk of imminent harm to the child," the State cannot seek, and no court can order, the child removed from their parent. RCW 13.34.050; In re Custody of Smith, 137 Wn.2d 1, 13-15, 969 P.2d 21 (1998) (recognizing parents fundamental constitutional right to raise their children without State interference).

Thus, it was not enough for Plaintiffs to show Rich abused W.M. on December 18. They had to show the evidence reasonably available on December 9 was sufficient to compel a judge to order

W.M.s removal from his mother. *Id*. Here, Plaintiffs' never addressed that burden, largely because they could never satisfy it.

Initially, much of Plaintiffs' argument is premised on their summary conclusion that, because Rich had a finding of physical abuse six year earlier, the State had a duty to prohibit him from having contact with W.M., and, presumably, every other child. There is no legal support for that proposition. Further, Plaintiffs' produced no evidence that Rich harmed W.M., prior to December 18, or that a judge could or would have restricted Rich's contact with W.M based on an administrative finding of abuse of another child from six years earlier.

More to the point, the State's expert opined there were not sufficient grounds to remove W.M. from his mother before December 18. CP 796-97. Even with knowledge of Rich's prior finding of abuse, when directly asked, Plaintiffs' expert did not dispute or challenge that opinion, nor did she opine that W.M. should have been taken into protective custody on December 9. CP 725. Plaintiffs' failure to produce evidence that would have

compelled a court to order the removal of W.M. on December 9 ends the analysis and Plaintiffs' claim against the State. RCW 13.34.050; *Young v. Key Pharm. Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) (a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element necessarily renders all other facts immaterial).

The Court of Appeals decision here also follows established precedent. Addressing facts and arguments similar to those presented here, the Court of Appeals in M.E. concluded no "harmful placement decision" occurred. M.E., 15 Wn. App. 2d at 33-34. There, in 2011, Tacoma Police Department officers (TPD) performed a welfare check at the residence of M.E. and J.E. after a report that J.E. had vomited from taking some of her mother's medication. Id. at 24. M.E. and J.E. lived with their mother and her boyfriend. Id. at 25. After visiting the residence, the officers did not see evidence of abuse or a basis to remove the children. Id. at 24-25. In January 2012, a TPD detective investigated a new allegation that M.E. and J.E. reported a "ghost" "peeking" at them in the bathroom. Id. at 25-27. Based

on its investigation and the fact that neither child made any disclosures of abuse, the detective did not take the children into protective custody. *Id.* In 2013, a second TPD detective investigated allegations that the boyfriend sexually abused J.B., whom the boyfriend often babysat while watching M.E. and J.E. *Id.* Although J.B. made disclosures of abuse, there was no information that the boyfriend had abused M.E. or J.E. *Id.* at 28. Two months after the boyfriend was arrested for abusing J.B., M.E. disclosed sexual abuse, claiming it began in the fall of 2012, *after* the first two investigations took place. *Id.* at 29-30.

M.E. sued the City alleging TPD conducted negligent investigations that resulted in a harmful placement—M.E. was left in a home with her future abuser. *Id.* at 23, 30, 33-36. However, M.E. failed to produce evidence that she should have been removed at the time of those earlier investigations. Just as Plaintiffs do here, M.E. sought to retroactively establish a "harmful placement" based on abuse that admittedly happened *after* TPD's 2011 and January 2012 investigations. *Id.* 

The Court of Appeals held the absence of evidence of abuse in 2011 and January 2012 and the absence of evidence showing that a different result would have occurred in 2013 at the time of TPD's investigation was dispositive. *Id.* As to the 2011 and 2012 investigations, M.E. could not show a negligent investigation resulted in a harmful placement of leaving a child in an abusive home because there was no evidence of any abuse in the home at those times. *Id.* at 33-34.

The reasoning of *M.E.* controls this appeal. There is no evidence W.M. could or should have been removed from his mother on December 9. CP 725; CP 1141-43; RCW 13.34.050. As in *M.E.*, Plaintiffs cannot rely on Rich's subsequent December 18 assault to retroactively conclude the State's original placement decision was wrong or harmful. *M.E.*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 33-35.

Plaintiffs' newly minted "hindsight test" cannot withstand close scrutiny. It ignores the statutory and Constitutional limitations on the State's ability to act, conflicts with established

precedent, is not supported by the undisputed facts in this record, and does not merit review.

#### b. The State never placed W.M. with Rich

On multiple occasions in their petition, Plaintiffs misrepresent that the State placed W.M. with Rich, in Rich's Oregon home on December 9. *See, e.g.*, Pet. at 18-19, 23-24. Plaintiffs' baseless conclusions are not sufficient to defeat summary judgment.

On a motion for summary judgment, the court only considers the evidence and *reasonable* inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. "[B]are assertions that a genuine material issue exists will not defeat a summary judgment motion in the absence of actual evidence." *Ellis v. City of Seattle*, 142 Wn.2d 450, 458, 13 P.3d 1065, 1070 (2000), *as amended* (Jan. 8, 2001); *White*, 131 Wn.2d at 9; CR 56(e).

As the Court of Appeals properly held, there is nothing in this record that permits the court to reasonably infer the State placed W.M. with Rich. *W.M.*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 624. The

State's *only* placement decision allowed W.M. to remain with his mother at Sally's home on December 9. CP 480-81. The State verified that residence at a home study it conducted three days later. CP 477-78. Plaintiffs' own expert acknowledged "Lawson" was living with her parents and they were caregivers for W.M." CP 1099. Plaintiffs produced no evidence that Rich lived at Sally's, and no evidence the State ever placed W.M. with Rich, much less Rich's Oregon residence. Plaintiffs' at misrepresentations are not evidence, do not put the undisputed facts at issue, and cannot defeat summary judgment. White, 131 Wn.2d at 9.

## c. Allowing W.M. to remain in his nonabusive home was not a "harmful placement decision"

Desperate to identify some "harmful placement decision," Plaintiffs now contend that W.M.'s ingestion of Suboxone, even though wholly accidental, established "negligent treatment" by Lawson, thereby rendering any placement with her a harmful one. Pet. at 20-22. Plaintiffs' argument directly conflicts with

Washington law, ignores the undisputed opinion of both parties' standard of care experts, and was properly rejected by the Court of Appeals.

Because the negligent investigation claim is inferred from the duty to investigate in RCW 26.44.050, the test for that cause of action must similarly adhere to the specific harm that statute addresses. Here, the duty to investigate is triggered by, and limited to, reports "involving conduct of abuse or neglect." *Wrigley v. State*, 195 Wn.2d 65, 67, 73, 77-78, 455 P.3d 1138 (2020). The legislature defined the term "abuse or neglect" that is central to RCW 26.44.050:

"Abuse or neglect" means sexual abuse, sexual exploitation, or injury of a child by any person under circumstances which cause harm to the child's health, welfare, or safety...; or the negligent treatment or maltreatment of a child by a person responsible for or providing care to the child...

### RCW 26.44.020(1)

"Negligent treatment or maltreatment" means conduct evidencing "a serious disregard of consequences of such magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to a child's health, welfare, or safety..." RCW 26.44.020(19). As a matter of law, the simple negligence Plaintiffs attribute to Lawson's involvement in the Suboxone incident is insufficient to show negligent treatment, maltreatment, or abuse. *Brown v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 190 Wn. App. 572, 590-91, 360 P.3d 875 (2015). Construing RCW 26.44.020(1), the Court of Appeals explained:

Good reason exists to reject a negligence benchmark. A negligence standard could place every Washington parent in jeopardy because what is "reasonable" under a negligence regime varies depending on the situation and actors involved. Such a standard might also implicate a parent's fundamental liberty interest in the care and custody of her children.

Brown, 190 Wn. App. at 593; see also In re Custody of Smith, 137 Wn.2d at 13-15.

Instead, to prove negligent treatment/maltreatment

Plaintiffs had to produce evidence showing "serious disregard [by

Lawson] of consequences to the child of such magnitude that it

create[d] a clear and present danger to the child's health." *Brown*, 190 Wn. App. at 590-91. When this correct legal standard is applied, there is no support for Plaintiffs' assertion.

Lawson briefly left W.M. in a room by himself. Upon her return, she found the toddler had climbed onto a stool, and accessed an old prescription of Suboxone. CP 480-81. Plaintiffs did not produce any evidence challenging these facts, nor did they produce evidence that Lawson was aware Suboxone was even there. Plaintiffs produced no argument or evidence that Lawson demonstrated a "serious disregard of consequences" by briefly leaving her child alone by a kitchen stool. *Brown*, 190 Wn. App. at 593.<sup>3</sup>

Plaintiffs' argument is similar to those made by petitioners in *M.E.* related to the 2011 investigation that followed J.E.'s reported ingestion of his mother's medication and the officer's note that the conditions in the home were not suitable for children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although this case was cited below, *Brown* is neither cited nor addressed in Plaintiffs' Petition.

See App. 10-11 (arguing, as to the 2011 investigation, "[t]he City breached its duty to the children leaving them in a home that was harmful to them even if no sexual abuse occurred at that time.") Just as this Court denied review of that argument in *M.E.*, it should deny review of Plaintiffs' argument here.

Plaintiffs also cite the founded finding of negligent treatment the State reached on February 20, 2018, three months *after* Rich's December 18 assault. *See* Pet. at 22. Despite the combined investigations of law enforcement and the State, no additional evidence was produced that showed the December 9 Suboxone incident was anything other than accidental.

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed summary judgment because Plaintiffs' failed to show the State made a harmful placement decision. *W.M.*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 622-24.

## 2. Plaintiffs cannot establish proximate cause

The Court of Appeals also correctly dismissed Plaintiffs' claim because they cannot show the State's alleged negligence

resulted in a harmful placement decision. W.M., 19 Wn. App. 2d at 624-25.

The State's only placement decision allowed W.M. to remain with his mother at Sally's house on December 9. Even with knowledge of Rich's prior abuse finding, when directly asked, Plaintiffs' standard of care expert neither disputed nor challenged that placement decision. CP 725. Thus, Plaintiffs did not show that, absent the negligence alleged, W.M. would been removed from his mother. Because that same placement would have occurred regardless of the negligence they attribute to the State, that negligence could not have "resulted" in a harmful placement decision, and summary judgment was properly affirmed. *M.W.*, 149 Wn.2d at 602; *Roberson*, 156 Wn.2d at 46.

Nevertheless, Plaintiffs contend the State should have implemented a voluntary safety plan that prevented contact between W.M. and Rich. They speculate that such a plan may have prevented Rich's assault. Plaintiffs' argument lacks merit.

Initially, the State does not possess extra-judicial legal

authority to unilaterally issue an enforceable "order" that directs or prohibits any action by a parent. A "safety plan" is a *voluntary* written agreement. It is neither automatically enforceable by a court, nor does the failure to follow that plan necessarily result in removal of the child. CP 1142.

In addition, Plaintiffs produced no evidence that Lawson would have complied with a voluntary agreement that limited contact with Rich. Finally, Plaintiffs produced no evidence that, had Lawson violated such a safety plan, the State could have learned of her action prior to December 18, and had time to petition the court for an order removing W.M. prior to that date. And even if the State could have detected W.M. with Rich in a different state, Plaintiffs produced no evidence that a court would have ordered W.M. placed into foster care prior to December 18 based on nothing more than Rich and W.M. being in the same room and an old prescription of Suboxone. *See* RCW 13.34.050.

Plaintiffs' attempt to support this speculation with the unsupported, conclusory opinions of their expert, similarly fails.

An expert's opinion "must be based on fact and cannot simply be a conclusion or based on an assumption if it is to survive summary judgment." *Strauss v. Premera Blue Cross*, 194 Wn.2d 296, 301, 449 P.3d 640 (2019); *Sartin v. Estate of McPike*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 163, 184-86, 475 P.3d 522 (2020), *review denied*, 196 Wn.2d 1046 (2021). The Court of Appeals correctly held the unsupported opinions of Plaintiffs' expert do not satisfy this test, and properly affirmed summary judgment. *Id*.

# 3. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with Albertson

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